IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01068

MATTHEW SACKS, M.D., and THE MEDICAL ONCOLOGY GROUP, P.A.

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NANCY NECAISE, INDIVIDUALLY and on behalf of the WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF CHARLES FREEMAN, DECEASED

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral Argument Requested

Appeal from Hancock County Circuit Court

Cause No. 98-0235

Thomas L. Musselman, MSB# Stacie E. Zorn, MSB# Williams, Heidelberg, Steinberger & McElhaney, P.A. Post Office Box 1407 Pascagoula, MS 39568

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-TS-01068

MATTHEW SACKS, M.D. and THE MEDICAL ONCOLOGY GROUP, P.A.

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

Statement of the Issues
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts
Summary of the Argument
Argument
Issue No. I. The Trial Court Erred When it Ruled That Plaintiff Met Her Burden of Proof on All the Elements of a Claim of Medical Negligence
Issue No. II. The Trial Court Erred When it Denied Defendants' <i>Daubert</i> Motion on Jenner's Expert Status
Issue No. III. The Trial Court Erred When it Allowed Plaintiff's Nursing Expert to Testify on Issues of Medical Diagnosis and Treatment Outside the Practice of Nursing
Issue No. IV. The Trial Court Erred When it Imputed Vicarious Liability to Dr. Sacks
Issue No. V. The Trial Court Erred When it Allowed the Plaintiff to Submit Medical Bills for Treatment of Pre-existing Conditions Unrelated to the Claims in the Instant Matter

Issue No. VI. The Judgment Should Be Reversed Because it Is Based upon Clearly	
Erroneous Findings Which Are Not Supported by Any Testimony or Evidence in the Record	
Conclusion	
Certificate of Service	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-TS-01068

MATTHEW SACKS, M.D. and THE MEDICAL ONCOLOGY GROUP, P.A. **APPELLANTS**

VERSUS

NANCY NECAISE, Individually and on behalf of the Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of CHARLES FREEMAN, Deceased

APPELLEES

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED

<u>Cases</u>

1.	Brake v. Speed, 605 So.2d 28 (Miss. 1992)
2.	Cassibry v. Schlautman, 816 So.2d 398 (Miss.App. 2001) 32-33
2.	Dailey v. Methodist Medical Center, 790 So.2d 903 (Miss.App. 2001)
3.	Ekornes-Duncan v. Rankin Medical Center, 808 So.2d 955 (Miss. 2002) 20
4.	Hunnicut v. Wright, 986 F.2d 119 (5th Cir. 1993)
5.	Kent v. Baptist Memorial Hospital North MS, Inc., 853 So.2d 873 (Miss.App.2003) 40-42
6.	Lander v. Singing River Hospital, 933 So.2d 1043 (Miss.App. 2006)25
7.	Magnolia Hospital v. Moore, 320 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1975)
8.	McCaffrey v. Puckett, 784 So.2d 197 (Miss. 2001) 19-20
9.	Poole v. Avara, et al., 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005) 32, 35
10.	Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l. Med. Ctr., Inc., 564 So.2d 1346 (Miss. 1990)
11.	Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg, Inc., 807 So.2d 1244 (Miss. 2002) 36
12.	Sheffield v. Goodwin, 740 So.2d 854 (Miss. 1999) 20, 36
13.	Stanton v. Delta Regional Medical Center, 802 So.2d 142 (Miss.App. 2001)

Statutes

1.	Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-61
2.	Miss. Code Ann. § 41-9-19 40
3.	Miss. Code Ann. § 73-15-5
Other A	Authorities
1.	Rule 702, Miss.R.Evid
2.	Rule 901, Miss.R.Evid
3.	Dorland's Medical Dictionary 380 (Franz J. Ingelfinger, M.D., ed., 25 th ed., W.B. Saunders Company 1980)

.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT PLAINTIFF MET HER BURDEN</u> OF PROOF ON ALL THE ELEMENTS OF A CLAIM OF MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE.

- II. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANTS' DAUBERT MOTION</u> ON JENNER'S EXPERT STATUS.
- III. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED PLAINTIFF'S NURSING EXPERT</u> <u>TO TESTIFY ON ISSUES OF MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT OUTSIDE</u> <u>THE PRACTICE OF NURSING.</u>
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT IMPUTEDVICARIOUS LIABILITY TO DR. SACKS.
- V. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PLAINTIFF TO SUBMIT</u> <u>MEDICAL BILLS FOR TREATMENT OF PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS UNRELATED</u> <u>TO THE CLAIMS IN THE INSTANT MATTER.</u>
- VI. <u>THE JUDGMENT SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT IS BASED UPON CLEARLY</u> <u>ERRONEOUS FINDINGS WHICH ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY TESTIMONY OR</u> <u>EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.</u>

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Disposition Below

This matter commenced upon the filing of a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Hancock County, Mississippi, on August 19, 1998, by Charles Freeman, deceased. Mr. Freeman alleged negligence on the part of Matthew Sacks, MD, and Jane Doe 1, for injuries he allegedly sustained while receiving chemotherapy treatment for lung cancer at the Medical Oncology Group. Dr. Sacks was an employee of the Medical Oncology Group at the time the Complaint was filed. On or about January 9, 1999, Charles Freeman died of lung cancer. By Order dated March 8, 1999, Mr. Freeman's daughter, Nancy Necaise was substituted as the Plaintiff in this matter. On or about September 30, 1999, the Plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint naming The Medical Oncology Group, P.A., as an additional Defendant in this case.

This case was tried before Circuit Court Judge Stephen B. Simpson on August 16 through 19, 2005. Judge Simpson issued his ruling against the Defendants on February 13, 2006. Final Judgment was entered on February 27, 2006. Defendants each filed their Motions to Reconsider (identified as Motion for New Trial, or in the Alternative, Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict) on February 27, 2006. Judge Simpson overruled said Motions by Order dated June 2, 2006. Defendants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on June 27, 2006.

2

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff, Charles Freeman, (hereafter "Mr. Freeman"), was diagnosed with non-small cell lung cancer on or about January 8, 1998. [RE-169; Exhibit P-1 at 103].¹ At the time of the diagnosis, Mr. Freeman was a 73 year old male who also suffered from diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and hypertension. *Id.* Mr. Freeman began chemotherapy treatment at the Medical Oncology Group on January 22, 1998. [RE-171, 173; P-1 at 19, 126]. Dr. Matthew Sacks was his treating physician. Dr. Sacks prescribed treatment with the chemotherapeutic drugs, Carboplatin and Taxol. *Id.* Dr. Sacks also referred Mr. Freeman to Dr. Michael Moses for placement of a central line to facilitate the administration of the chemotherapy agents. *Id.* Mr. Freeman decided, on his own, not to have the central line, and instead opted for peripheral line administration. [RE-34; Tr-174]. Dr. Sacks testified that the best way to prevent an infiltration is to administer the drug through a central line. [RE-237; P-11 at 30]. On February 17, 1998, after the reaction to Taxol, Mr. Freeman, adhering to the original recommendation of Dr. Sacks, opted to have a central line placed. [RE-178; P-1 at 150].

Dr. Sacks does not administer chemotherapy. [RE-231-232; P-11 at 15-16]. It was Dr. Sacks' and the Medical Oncology Group's customary practice to meet with the patient first and prepare a treatment plan. *Id.* The treatment plan consists of the drugs the patient will receive and how they should be administered, along with pretreatment medication. *Id.* Dr. Sacks would then discuss the treatment plan and possible side effects, etc. with the patient. *Id.* The patient would come back at

1

References to the Record Excerpt will be cited as "RE-___." References to the Trial Transcript will be cited as "Tr-___." The Exhibits will be referenced as either "P-___" or "D-__"

a later date to receive the treatment. *Id.* At that time, the treatment plan is given to the chemotherapy nurse, who administers the treatment. *Id.* Dr. Sacks does not remain in the treatment room while the chemotherapy is being administered. *Id.* Rather, while tending to other patients, he would "stick his head in and say hello," or sometimes just walk by and take a look in the room. *Id.* It was the Medical Oncology Group's custom and practice to have the chemotherapy nurse check on the patients roughly every 15 minutes. [RE-238; P-11 at 35]. A typical chemotherapy treatment lasts approximately 4 hours. *Id.* Dr. Sacks does not select which chemotherapy nurse will administer the treatment. This was the job of the office manager. [RE-233; P-11 at 17].

On January 28, 1998, Mr. Freeman received his first cycle of chemotherapy treatment with no apparent difficulty. [RE-172; P-1 at 121]. On February 12, 1998, Mr. Freeman received his second cycle of chemotherapy treatment. *Id.* After administration of the anti-naseau drug Kytril, it was noted that Mr. Freeman's arm was swollen, but he did not complain of burning or stinging at the IV site. [RE-173, 234; P-1 at 126; P-11, at 24]. At that point in time, Dr. Sacks believed Mr. Freeman suffered an infiltration of Taxol. [RE-235, P-11 at 26]. Dr. Sacks ordered that Mr. Freeman's arm be elevated and that ice be applied to the area. [RE-235-235; P-11 at 26-27]. Ultimately, Mr. Freeman suffered a cellulitis of his left arm. [RE-38; Tr-177]. Three weeks later, the cellulitis had completely healed. *Id.*

The trial record contains only one medical record in which Mr. Freeman's chief complaint was swelling in the left arm. [RE-176; P-1 at 145]. This record is dated February 16, 1998, and states that the arm appears to be healing well without significant signs or complications or difficulty with movement of the hand. [RE-177; P-1 at 148]. On February 17, 1998, Mr. Freeman called the Medical Oncology Group complaining of water blisters on his left arm and coughing up blood. [RE-179; P-1 at 151]. On February 18, 1998, Mr. Freeman was admitted to Garden Park Hospital for

complaints of shortness of breath and fever. His current problems were noted to be increasing shortness of breath and fever suggesting possible pulmonary infection and perhaps leukopenia² secondary to his recent chemotherapy. [RE-181; P-1 at 157]. Mr. Freeman was discharged from acute care during this stay and admitted to the Extended Care Unit (ECU) for continued therapy for his cellulitis, including whirlpool treatments, medical management and antibiotic therapy. [RE-180, 182; P-1 at 154, 172]. He was discharged on March 9, 1998. *Id.* Dr. Sacks noted that Mr. Freeman's stay in ECU was complicated by an infectious exacerbation of his cardio obstructive pulmonary disease. *Id.* The medical bills submitted as Plaintiff's Exhibit P-7, confirm that Mr. Freeman did not undergo any bandaging, debridement or whirlpool treatment until February 24, 1998. This treatment only continued through March 9, 1998. The medical bills clearly show that, beginning on February 18, 1998, and continuing through March 17, 1998, Mr. Freeman received substantial treatment in the form of respiratory therapy, cardiology, radiology related to his pre-existing conditions of lung cancer, COPD and diabetes. [RE-199-229; P-7].

On March 12, 1998, Mr. Freeman was again admitted to Garden Park Hospital. [RE-183; P-1 at 176]. At this time, Dr. Sacks noted that Mr. Freeman has had a complete recovery of the function of his left arm and healing of the wound. *Id.* There was absolutely no medical testimony to relate this admission to Mr. Freeman's cellulitis, and in fact, a review of the medical bills shows that Mr. Freeman did not incur any charges for bandaging, debridement or whirlpool treatment during this hospital stay. [RE-199-229; P-7].

2

Leukopenia is defined as an abnormal decrease in the number of white blood cells. *Dorland's Medical Dictionary* 380 (Franz J. Ingelfinger, M.D., ed., 25th ed., W.B. Saunders Company 1980)

On March 17, 1998, Mr. Freeman underwent a lung biopsy at Garden Park Hospital. [RE-186; P-1 at 186]. He was then transferred to Memorial Hospital at Gulfport, Mississippi, for evaluation for radiation therapy. [RE-184; P-1 at 181]. Subsequent to March 9, 1998, Mr. Freeman was admitted to either Garden Park Hospital or Memorial Hospital on at least 7 occasions to receive either radiation treatment or treatment for his uncontrolled diabetes mellitus and/or COPD. [RE-184-185, 187-198; P-1 at 181-182, 196, 198, 200, 202, 203, 212, 213-215, 242, 243, 244].

Dr. Sacks was designated as an expert by the Plaintiff. At trial, Dr. Sacks testified that he is a board certified medical oncologist who was employed by the Medical Oncology Group for approximately 4 years, from 1996 though 1998. [RE-30; Tr-142]. He testified that infiltrations are a known and accepted risk of IV therapy. [RE-37; Tr-174]. Dr. Sacks further testified that there was no breach of the standard of care with regard to Nurse Byrd's administration of chemotherapy. [RE-35, 37, 41, 43-44; Tr-171, 174, 196, 212-213]. Further, Dr. Sacks testified that there was no deviation from the standard of care with regard to his care and treatment of Mr. Freeman. [RE-44; Tr-213].

There is no doubt that Dr. Sacks believed there was an infiltration of Taxol at the inception of the case. [RE-31, 257; P-11 at 30; Tr-158]. However, upon further review of the medical literature, he opined that he did not believe there was an extravasation³ of the Taxol into Mr. Freeman's forearm because extravasations are usually much more localized. [RE-32; Tr-159].

And, the way in which this injury to Mr. Freeman's arm appears, it looks as if this is following the circulation of that vein. It's hard for me to understand how you can have extravasation at the site that the needle is entering the vein, yet have drug travel

3

Throughout the trial of this case, although medically imprecise, the term extravasation was used interchangeably with the term infiltration. [RE-50; Tr-226].

all the way up the arm. So it doesn't look like any type of extravasation that I've seen in the last 30 years.

Id.

With regard to potential vicarious liability, Dr. Sacks testified that Nurse Byrd was not under his direction and control. [RE-33; Tr-160]. In fact, he even testified in his deposition that the other two doctors have authority to go into the treatment room and give the nurse orders. [RE-239; P-11 at 48]. Even though Dr. Sacks had the authority to give Nurse Byrd orders, it is undisputed that Nurse Byrd was an employee of the Medical Oncology Group, not Dr. Sacks. [RE-34, 128; Tr-161, 365]. Both Dr. Sacks and Nurse Byrd were employees of the Medical Oncology Group. *Id*.

The Plaintiff offered Ms. Pamela Creel Jenner as an expert in the field of chemotherapy nursing. [RE-49; Tr-225]. The Defendants objected to Ms. Jenner's designation as an expert and filed a motion in limine to exclude her testimony. *Id.* Ms. Jenner is an attorney who practices in the State of Mississippi. [RE-45; Tr-219]. Prior to her legal career, Ms. Jenner obtained a nursing degree from Providence School of Nursing in Mobile, Alabama, in 1974. *Id.* She then worked at Providence Hospital for one year in the recovery room and on the medical surgical floor. [RE-45-46; Tr-219-220]. Ms. Jenner subsequently became employed with Charity Hospital in New Orleans, Louisiana, from 1975-1979. *Id.* While so employed, she worked in the leukemia unit for approximately one year and the cancer unit for approximately three years. *Id.* She testified that she received training from Charity Hospital with regard to chemotherapy. *Id.* Ms. Jenner testified that she administered chemotherapy to approximately several hundred patients from 1975 through 1979, or 1980. [RE-47; Tr-221].

Ms. Jenner has given deposition testimony as a nurse, "only a handful of times." [RE-48; Tr-223]. She has only been accepted as a nursing expert, in trial, on one occasion. *Id.* The case was a medical malpractice case, but did not involve the administration of chemotherapy. *Id.* Ms. Jenner has never administered the chemotherapy drug Taxol. *Id.* Her knowledge of Taxol and its administration comes from what she read in articles she retrieved from the internet. *Id.* In addition, Ms. Jenner reviewed the depositions of Nurse Byrd, Dr. Sacks, Nurse Annette Dove and Pete Freeman. [RE-49; Tr-225]. Ms. Jenner also attended the deposition of Nurse Annette Dove.

Ms. Jenner presented two opinions regarding an alleged breach of the standard of care by Nurse Byrd. First, Ms. Jenner opined Nurse Byrd was negligent by failing to monitor the IV site. She also opined Nurse Byrd was negligent by failing to rotate the IV site from the site where Mr. Freeman received chemotherapy three weeks prior. [RE-79; Tr260].

Over the Defendant's objection, Ms. Jenner testified that it was her opinion Mr. Freeman suffered an extravasation of Taxol on February 12, 1998. [RE-51-52; Tr-227-228]. Ms. Jenner testified that Nurse Byrd was, "substandard in her nursing care and treatment of Mr. Freeman during the Taxol IV administration." *Id.* Ms. Jenner testified that, in her opinion, the standard of care requires the patient to be monitored extremely closely for the first hour by remaining in constant observation of the patient and of the IV and taking vital signs every 15 minutes. [RE-53; Tr-230]. Ms. Jenner defined "constant observation" as "being either in the room or nearby the room where you can watch the patient at all times and see the IV." [RE-57; Tr-234]. Ms. Jenner initially testified that, according to the medical record, she does not believe Nurse Byrd followed the standard of care. [RE-53-54; Tr-230-231]. The basis for her opinion is that she disputes Ms. Byrd's deposition testimony. However, she later testified that, if Ms. Byrd's testimony was taken as true, she did, in fact, take vital signs every 15 minutes. [RE-74; Tr-254]. In Ms. Jenner's opinion, Nurse Byrd documented poorly and failure to document is a breach of the standard of care. [RE-75; Tr-255].

Ms. Jenner further testified that Nurse Byrd breached the standard of care by failing to rotate

the IV site, and that she "thinks" the standard requires the nurse to rotate the extremities. [RE-58; Tr-235]. Ms. Jenner admitted that she did not research any medical literature nor have any written authority to support her opinion. [RE-79, 80; Tr-261, 262].

Ms. Jenner further opined that, according to nurse Byrd's documentation, the Taxol infusion was complete at 12:20 p.m; that Dr. Sacks ordered Taxol to be administered over 3 hours; and that it is a breach of the standard of care to administer a medication in one hour when you have been ordered by the doctor to administer it over 3 hours. [RE-58-59; Tr-235-236].

Ms. Jenner opined that the standard of care also required Nurse Byrd to continue to monitor the patient and document his vital signs periodically and document the appearance of the IV site during the subsequent two hours of Taxol administration. [RE-61; Tr- 238]. The February 12, 1998, record clearly provides that no reaction was noted when Taxol was completed and that once the left arm was noted to be swollen, Mr. Freeman had no complaints of burning or stinging at the IV site. [RE-173; P-1 at 126]. Yet, Ms. Jenner testified that Nurse Byrd failed to monitor Mr. Freeman over the final 2 hours of Taxol infusion. [RE-61; Tr-238]. (She had just testified that Nurse Byrd infused all the Taxol in one hour rather than three hours).

Ms. Jenner also testified that her review of the medical literature revealed documented cases of severe tissue necrosis due to Taxol extravasation, such as occurred in this case. [RE-65; Tr-242]. Ms. Jenner was allowed to testify regarding her "internet" search of medical literature, despite the Defendant's continued objection to her testifying as a medical expert. [RE-66-68; Tr-243-245].

Ms. Jenner testified that she has never seen an infiltration react the way this alleged infiltration did. [RE-72; Tr-251]. She did, however, testify that infiltrations are a known and accepted risk of IV therapy and that they can occur absent negligence. [RE-72, 79; Tr-251, 260]. In Ms. Jenner's opinion, the reason there was nursing negligence in this case is because Nurse Byrd

failed to monitor the IV, which conclusion she reached because of "poor documentation." [RE-53-54; Tr-230-231].

Ms. Jenner presented two theories of nursing negligence concerning the administration of Taxol. First, she theorized that Taxol was administered over one hour, rather than three hours as ordered by Dr. Sacks and that this violation of Dr. Sacks order was a breach of the standard of care. [RE-58-59; Tr-235-236]. She then changed her opinion and stated that she believed Nurse Byrd continued the Taxol infusion for the final two hours after the infiltration was discovered. [RE-77; Tr-258]. Even so, Ms. Jenner testified that Nurse Byrd acted as a prudent nurse by notifying Dr. Sacks when Mr. Freeman's arm was found to be cool. [RE-7-78; Tr-258-259].

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