#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel certifies that the following persons or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Appellee, Nancy Necaise the daughter and only heir of Chares Freeman, Deceased
- 2. Appellants, Matthew Sacks, M.D. and The Medical Oncology Group, P.A.
- 3. Honorable Stephen Simpson, Circuit Court Judge for the Second District
- 4. Counsel for Appellees;

Robert W. Smith, Esq. George Estes, III, Esq,

5. Counsel for Appellants:

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

An appellate court is required to examine the entire record and must accept that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences which may be drawn there from and which favor the lower court's findings of fact. *Vice v. Hinton*, 811 So.2d 335 (Miss. App. 2001). This assignment of error cannot be sustained on this record.

## II. WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING <u>EXPERT TESTIMONY OF PAM JENNER</u>

Pam Jenner, a licensed registered nurse and an attorney, testified as Plaintiff's expert in the field of nursing. Impeachment of Ms. Jenner was particularly difficult as she had previously worked as both an attorney and a nursing expert witness for both defense firms herein as well as numerous other law firms. (TR 222-3; Appellee's RE-36-37)

Ms. Jenner is a licensed nurse in the State of Mississippi and had five years experience from 1975-1980 specifically as a chemotherapy nurse. (TR-221; Appellee's RE-35) She testified that she has administered chemotherapy to several hundred patients. (TR-221; Appellee's RE-35) She read every medical record, every deposition, personally attended the deposition of Defendants' nursing expert, attended trial and heard Dr. Sacks' testimony and did an extensive medical literature search on Defendants' new found trial theory of "hypersensitive reaction" as well as on Taxol. (TR-218-248) We wish all our medical expert witnesses were as thorough and prepared as Ms. Jenner.

Defendants' main contentions seem to be that passage of time between her chemotherapy nursing experience and trial should somehow disqualify her as an expert or alternatively that only certified chemotherapy nurses may testify. Neither contention holds water. Annette Dove, Defendants' nursing expert, acknowledged the nursing standard of care for monitoring chemotherapy has not changed since 1977. (R-853-4; Appellee's RE-101-102) Moreover, an expert sufficiently familiar with the standards of a medical specialty may testify even if he or she does not practice the specialty. *Cheeks v. Bio-Medical Applications, Inc.*, 908 So.2d 117 (Miss. 2005) (specialist in one area may have knowledge and expertise in another area sufficient to testify.) *Partin v. N. Miss. Medical Center, Inc.*, 929 So.2d 924 (Miss. 2005) (OB/GYN may testify as to general hospital procedures and nursing standards even though he has never practiced as a nurse.)

*Thompson v. Carter*, 518 So.2d 609 (Miss. 1987) (Pharmacist may testify as to causation on effect of a drug as well as on standard of care of a urologist prescribing the drug – expert is only required to have medical knowledge, not medical degree.)

We think it also important that Defendants have not assigned as error the fact that Circuit Court Judge Robert Walker also ruled herein on August 20, 2001, just before one of the previous trial settings on Defendants' motion *in limine* that Ms. Jenner was qualified to testify. (TR-55; R-851; Appellee's RE-1) Though Judge Walker's ruling was based on a *Frye* standard and Judge Simpson's ruling on a *Daubert* standard, both decisions were firmly rooted in evidence of her qualifications and expertise and most certainly not an abuse of discretion. The absence of any argument or mention in Defendants' brief as to Judge Walker's ruling is telling. The fact that two circuit judges exercised their considerable discretion to allow Ms. Jenner to testify is strong evidence that her qualifications past muster.

Lastly, we take note of the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals' statement in *Gibbs v*. *General American Life Ins. Co.*, 210 F.3d 491 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) that, "*Daubert* safeguards are not as essential in a case where the district court sits as trier of fact in place of jury." Whether an expert witness is qualified to testify is within the court's discretion. The test is whether a witness possesses peculiar knowledge or information regarding the relevant subject matter which is not likely to be possessed by a layman. *Nunnally v. R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 869 So.2d 373 (Miss. 2004) cited in *Partin, supra*. The trial judge's decision here was well within his discretion.

## III. WHETHER PLAINTIFF'S NURSING EXPERT'S TESTIMONY THAT SHE HAD CONDUCTED A MEDICAL LITERATURE SEARCH WAS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF NURSING PRACTICE.

The short answer to Defendants' contention that Ms. Jenner's testimony "exceeded the scope of her expertise" is that it did not. Moreover, Defendants' citation of *Richardson v. Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg*, 807 So.2d 1244 (Miss. 2002) seriously misquotes the holding in that case. Defendants state the holding as "registered nurse not qualified to render relevant testimony with regard to causal connection between alleged deviations from the requisite standard of care for nursing and plaintiff's multiple severe medical problems or the cause of those conditions." (Defendants' Brief at Page 36) That is not the holding in *Richardson*. The actual holding was that the nurse <u>was</u> qualified to testify as to standard of care and causation of more suffering and more medical bills due to lack of monitoring, but could not offer an opinion on complex medical issue as to cause of death.

Ms. Jenner's testimony herein was that she conducted a medical literature search which confirmed both that Taxol is listed as a vesicant and that hypersensitive reactions do not cause tissue necrosis. The fourteen medical journal articles she relied upon were furnished to the court and opposing counsel. (TR-241-242; Appellee's RE-47-48) Testimony stating the content of medical journal articles hardly constitutes the witness offering causation opinions on complex issues. A nurse expert who is also an attorney certainly has the ability of assisting the trier of fact by referencing authoritative medical literature.

## IV. VICARIOUS LIABILITY OF DR. SACKS

Defendants acknowledge that the unrefuted testimony of both Dr. Sacks and Nurse Byrd was that she was working under his direction and control when administering the Taxol. Such testimony squarely places the evidence under the ruling of *Hunnicutt v. Wright*, 986 F.2d 119 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993) (physician is liable for nurses working under his direction and control but not responsible for technicians in back room washing surgical instruments)

Defendants then try to force a round peg in a square hole by arguing that administering chemotherapy is a "routine act" and "a ministerial act" for which the supervising physician can have no vicarious liability. This argument is directly contrary to Defendants' previous argument in their brief that only certified chemotherapy nurse experts

should be allowed to even address the subject of chemotherapy in a courtroom. If only chemotherapy nurses should be allowed to testify, how can the nurse's acts be reduced to routine and ministerial?

Section 73-15-5, Miss. Code Ann. (1972) has a lengthy definition of the practice of nursing which specifically includes "administration of medications." In other words, one has to have a license to do it. No one in this trial ever described the administration of Taxol as "merely a ministerial act" as characterized by Defense counsel. The administration of chemotherapy requires highly specialized knowledge, a nursing license, and is in no way comparable to technicians washing surgical tools in a back room. The *Hunnicutt* court was correct in its ruling about operating technicians in a back room and Judge Simpson was correct herein in his ruling concerning a chemotherapy nurse working under the direct control and right to control of an oncologist.

We have neither the time nor space to quote the entirety of <u>Prosser</u> – <u>Imputed</u> <u>Negligence.</u> A master cannot escape liability merely by ordering his servant to act carefully. The whole premise of vicarious liability is that liability is imputed to the master for the negligence of the servant even though the master has done nothing wrong and indeed did everything he could to prevent it. <u>Prosser</u>, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed. § 69; <u>Wigmore</u>, Responsibility for Tortious Acts: Its History, 1894, 7 Harv. L. Rev. 315. Professor Prosser is much more eloquent than the author of this brief and certainly worth rereading once in a while.

The record here is uncontradicted with evidence of actual control, right to control, Dr. Sacks being in and out during the Taxol administration and specific admission by both the doctor and the nurse that Ms. Byrd was acting under Dr. Sacks' direction and control. (P-11, P-12; Appellee's RE-93, 97, 99) The court had substantial, unrefuted evidence with which to make its decision on vicarious liability and there is simply no way to hold the trial

judge manifestly wrong on this record. Defendant introduced no evidence whatsoever to refute Dr. Sacks' and Ms. Byrd's admissions in their depositions of direction, control and right to control.

#### V. <u>MEDICAL BILLS</u>

Defendants contend again that the medical bills contain items which relate to treatment of pre-existing conditions which should not be compensable and that the judge's calculation of damages is therefore wrong. First there is no proof that the court granted Plaintiff the entirety of the \$42,334.36 itemized medical bills introduced into evidence. The court merely used the itemized bills as a measurement and guideline of Plaintiff's damages as indicted by the judge's statement, "While it is arguable, some of the medical care while hospitalized was rendered due to Mr. Freeman's pre-existing condition of cancer, the vast majority of the treatment and need for three hospitalizations was due to cellulitis and the overall condition of his arm." (RE-16-17).

When the court admitted the bills, it stated, "I'm going to admit them in evidence subject to reviewing them with the admission reports which may cause me to exclude portions of them," (TR-322; Appellee's RE-56). Again at the close of trial the court stated, "Gentlemen, as the trier of fact, I need to compare some of the medical records with the medical bills that were given to me, as I indicated earlier..." (TR-468; Appellee's RE-81).

Defendant did not request by post trial motion that the judge make amended or additional findings. Indeed, Defendant Sacks did not even file a motion requesting a new trial.

If there are no specific findings of fact, the appellate court will assume the trial court has made determinations of fact sufficient to support its judgment. *Buford v. Logue*, 832

So.2d 594 (Miss. App. 2002); *Par Industries v. Target Container Co.*, 708 So.2d 44 (Miss. 1998) (where findings of fact are implicit in trial court's ruling, the appellate court will credit them and grant them deference.) *Bessant v. State*, 808 So.2d 979 (Miss. App. 2001) (the appellate court does not set aside findings of fact unless they are manifestly wrong.) *Wilson v. Greyhound Bus Lines, Inc.*, 830 So.2d 1151 (Miss. 2002). The trial judges rulings are presumed correct and this presumption prevails unless the record shows manifest error. *Hardy v. Brock*, 826 So.2d 71 (Miss. 2002).

The court should particularly note that statements in Defendants' brief arguing which items in itemized medical bills are related and which items are not, are purely Defense counsel's assertions not supported by citation to any testimony of record. Moreover, Defense counsel predicates his assertions on a grossly false hypothesis that the only items recoverable related to the arm are "bandaging, whirlpool treatment and physical therapy." (Defendants' Brief, Page 33) An appellate court simply refuses to review any allegation of error which is unsupported by the record. *Blackwell v. Board of Animal Health*, 784 So.2d 996 (Miss. App. 2001). The hypothesis is wrong and counsel's conclusions are wrong and unsupported by any testimony. Lastly, Defendants have utterly failed to comply with Rule 14, Miss. R. App. P. which requires a certificate of a public accountant if a party asserts a court's calculation of damages is wrong.

# VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION, WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN COMMENTING ON THE SEVEN <u>SUBJECTS CITED BY APPELLANTS.</u>

Before we briefly address the laundry list of alleged "erroneous findings of fact" in Defendants' brief, we note Defendant neither argued nor suggested that such alleged errors affected a substantial right of a party. As such, none of the alleged errors constitute reversible error. (See, Rule 103, Miss. R. of Evid.) Additionally, Dr. Sams did not file a motion for new trial and many of these points should be procedurally barred as to him. (See, Rule 59, Miss. R. Civ. P.; *Concannon v. Reynolds*, 878 So.2d 107 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)).

#### A. <u>TIMING OF TAXOL INFUSION</u>

The court's opinion correctly cited the medical record which states "Taxol complete" on the same line as the time "12:20." This reference in no way indicates the judge gave no weight to oral testimony on the timing issue.

# B. BYRD'S TESTIMONY ON THE STANDARD OF CARE FOR THE FIRST HOUR.

The court's opinion stated, "Ms. Byrd testified that standard nursing care required the nurse to stay with the patient during the first hour while he is getting Taxol." (RE 8).

Ms. Byrd's precise testimony was "we stay with the patient for the first hour while he's getting Taxol." (P-12, Pg 21, Ln 21; Appellee's RE-83)

We do not understand Defense counsel's assertion of manifest error because the transcript says what the judge said in his opinion.

## C. DR. SACKS TESTIFIED THAT FREEMAN WAS NEVER GIVEN TAXOL AFTER THE FEBRUARY 12, 1998 TREATMENT.

The exact question to Dr. Sacks was, "Did you continue to give him Taxol after this occasion?" His answer was, "Not at all. . . . Never got it again." (P-11, Page 40; Appellee's RE-98) We do not understand counsel's contention that this is erroneous as Dr. Sacks' testimony is almost verbatim with the court's finding.

# D. PEARSON AND DOVE AGREED THERE WAS NO DOCUMENTATION OF CONTINUOUS OBSERVATION FOR THE FIRST HOUR AND EVERY FIFTEEN MINUTES THEREAFTER.

Dove testified, "There is no written documentation in the notes that says how many

times she [Byrd] monitored the patient after twelve o'clock." (TR-435; Appellee's RE-68)

Pearson testified, "There was no documentation of vital signs after 12:20." (TR-392;

Appellee's RE-58)

Regardless of what these two witnesses' testimony was, it is an absolute fact that

Byrd did not chart continuous observation for one hour and vital signs were not charted

every fifteen minutes. (See, P-3)

## E. DOVE TESTIFIED IT WAS NOT A BREACH OF THE STANDARD OF CARE IF A NURSE GIVES TAXOL OVER ONE HOUR EVEN IF PHYSICIAN ORDERED IT GIVEN OVER THREE HOURS.

Defendants call this finding clearly erroneous. Dover testified, "No sir, it would not be a breach of the standard of care because it can be given over one hour." (TR-427; Appellee's RE-63). Defense counsel's assertion is clearly erroneous.

## F. GARDEN PARK HOSPITAL RECORDS.

Defendant raises Rule 901 lack of authentication of hospital records for the first time in this case. The records were admitted by agreement at trial. (TR-117; Appellee's RE-3) Errors not raised at trial are not reviewable. *Hogan v. State*, 741 So.2d 296 (Miss. 2001)

## G. DAMAGES WERE SUBSTANTIAL

Defense counsel again faults the trial judge for making the judgment that, "damages were substantial." Defense counsel is the only person who makes the allegation that damages were insubstantial – certainly no witness made this assertion. Mr. Freeman had his

arm virtually burned off by a toxic chemical and counsel's assertions that such injuries were minor are quite unbelievable.

## **CONCLUSION**

There was substantial credible evidence to support the court's judgment. The trial judge did not abuse his considerable discretion, was not manifestly in error and used appropriate legal standards. This nine year old case should be affirmed and Charles Freeman allowed to rest in peace.